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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome,

          3  everyone.

          4                 This Hearing of the Public Safety

          5  Committee.  The good news Melinda and James, this

          6  will be the last hearing until next year.

          7                 Today we are going to consider

          8  Resolution 519 which calls on the State Legislature

          9  to extend drug free zones to playgrounds and enhance

         10  penalties for offenders.

         11                 In 1986, the State Legislature

         12  created the new crime of criminal sales of a

         13  controlled substance in or near a school ground.

         14  Although, such drug sales were already illegal, the

         15  Legislature believed that enhanced penalties were

         16  needed in order to deter drug sales to children in

         17  areas where drug dealers would likely come into

         18  contact with children.

         19                 Under the current definition of Penal

         20  Law, school grounds includes within 1,000 feet of

         21  any private or public elementary, junior high, or

         22  high school.

         23                 In 1998, the Legislature expanded the

         24  statue to provide for enhanced penalties for those

         25  who sell drugs on the grounds of a "child day care
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          2  or educational facility."

          3                 In essence, to sell controlled

          4  substance within this drug free zone brings a

          5  greater penalty that exists in other areas.

          6  In reality what happened, is the drug dealers now

          7  want to sell to kids and because of these increased

          8  penalties around school they have moved their

          9  operations to areas like playgrounds and that is why

         10  we are here today.

         11                 Our Resolution urges the State

         12  Legislature to increase the penalties for drug sales

         13  that occur near public playgrounds in the same

         14  theory that inspire the current statue. That

         15  increased penalties would deter drug dealers from

         16  selling to children, where they are likely to

         17  encounter children.

         18                 I would like to introduce the Council

         19  Members that are with us here today.  To my

         20  immediate left Melinda Katz, next to her Sub

         21  Committee Chair James Davis and with us also we have

         22  the primary sponsor of this Bill Mr. Joseph Addabbo,

         23  who I would like to give the opportunity to make an

         24  opening statement.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair, and I want to thank you very much and the

          3  rest of my colleagues on the Committee for

          4  entertaining this issue.

          5                 As Chair of the Parks Committee, we

          6  had actually thought about ways that we could make

          7  our parks a lot safer for our families.  We feel

          8  that a lot of activity happens in our parks

          9  predominately either during winter months, when the

         10  parks are not being used, or parks that are in

         11  disrepair and unfortunately not able to entertain

         12  seniors or children in the course of their

         13  disrepair.

         14                 When speaking to local police

         15  precincts, both in my district and out, the idea of

         16  this piece of legislation or Resolution going up to

         17  the State, would again help them enforce obviously

         18  certain laws to make our parks a lot safer so that

         19  our children and seniors can use them without being

         20  harassed or without having a certain element around

         21  there.

         22                 And, that is what we are doing here

         23  today is basically trying to make our parks a better

         24  place for residents who use them.

         25                 You know, our parks have become a lot
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          2  more important and a special place post 911 and we

          3  have seen in speaking to Commissioner Benepe, an

          4  increased use of our parks throughout this past

          5  year, over this past year.

          6                 And, it is important that the people

          7  who do use our parks, whether it be for a little

          8  piece of mind or quiet enjoyment, are able to use

          9  their parks without being, like I said earlier,

         10  harassed with certain type of criminal activity and

         11  I only hope that this kind of legislation with the

         12  State approval obviously, would allow our parks to

         13  be a place where we can eliminate any type of

         14  criminal activity regarding drug use sale, what have

         15  you.

         16                 So again, I appreciate the

         17  Committee's entertaining of this Resolution.  If I

         18  can be of any help, just let me know.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you

         21  Council Member Addabbo.

         22                 One of the other things we will

         23  concentrate on today is whether this Resolution

         24  should be expanded to include areas outside of

         25  playgrounds such as the entire park.
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          2                 We are lucky to have with us today

          3  the City's expert on these issues Bridget Brennan,

          4  the Special Narcotics Prosecutor for the City of New

          5  York.  I was going to say an old colleague of mine

          6  but that would not be right, a former colleague of

          7  mine from the Manhattan District Attorney's Office.

          8                 Welcome Ms. Brennan, we look forward

          9  to your testimony.

         10                 MS. BRENNAN:  Thank you very much.

         11  Thank you Councilman Vallone and Members of the

         12  Public Safety Committee.

         13                 I appreciate the opportunity to

         14  testify before you today on the Council's Resolution

         15  519, calling for enhanced penalty for those who deal

         16  drugs on New York City playgrounds.               And

         17  , I know that I speak for myself as well as all of

         18  the District Attorneys in the City when I say that

         19  drug dealing is particularly abhorrent when it's

         20  done in areas particularly set aside for the use and

         21  enjoyment of children.

         22                 The focus of your Resolution is

         23  appropriate as time and time again our cases involve

         24  narcotic dealers who convert playgrounds, play areas

         25  and parks into drug markets.
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          2                 No parent wants to send children out

          3  to play amiss this activity so, frequently,

          4  playgrounds become the exclusive domain of drug

          5  dealers.

          6                 Just two weeks ago, a Manhattan jury

          7  returned a guilty verdict in the 1999 homicide case,

          8  arising out of a decade long crack operation run out

          9  of the playing area, between two housing

         10  developments on Madison Avenue, between 109th and

         11  110th Streets in Manhattan.

         12                 During the trial, residents testified

         13  that the drug dealers, so dominated the playground,

         14  that they would never let their kids play there. In

         15  fact, afraid for their own safety, adults would run

         16  past the playground whenever they had to pass it to

         17  get to a subway entrance.

         18                 The homicide charged in the case was

         19  a contract murder ordered and paid for by the main

         20  drug dealer in the park. The victim was shot down on

         21  Madison Avenue and 110th Street, a short distance

         22  from the dealers' usual spot in the playground.  He

         23  wanted  the target to get murdered there so he could

         24  stroll over from his usual post and watch the

         25  homicide he paid for take place.
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          2  To give you a sense of the area I am describing, I

          3  have attached photographs of the site to my

          4  testimony.

          5                 The problem of drug dealing in public

          6  places is particularly acute in the City's housing

          7  developments where time and time again, through our

          8  investigations we find that the playgrounds and the

          9  play areas inside or adjacent to the complexes,

         10  specifically designed for children to have some

         11  space to run around and let off steam, have been

         12  taken over by drug dealers.

         13                 We hear regularly from your

         14  constituents, from every county, asking us to do

         15  something about this situation.  They want to put an

         16  end to this degradation, that the criminal activity

         17  brings to their neighborhood and they want us to

         18  help them in their efforts to create livable

         19  communities for themselves and their children.

         20                 I know many of you here the same

         21  complaints I do and the same plea I do.  Get the

         22  drug dealers out of my lobby, off my stoop, out of

         23  my neighborhood and please, please, keep them away

         24  from my children.  I cannot repeat this message

         25  often enough and clearly your proposed resolution
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          2  echoes this sentiment.

          3                 Before I go into the specifics of the

          4  proposal, let me review the current stated law.

          5  Right now Penal Law Section 220.44 enhances

          6  penalties for selling drugs within 1,000 feet of a

          7  school.

          8                 Specifically, the statue increases

          9  the minimum sentence for anyone convicted of selling

         10  drugs within 1,000 feet of the school.  Someone

         11  otherwise facing a minimum one- to- three year

         12  penalty for selling narcotics must serve at least

         13  two to six years in state prison if convicted under

         14  this section.

         15                 Since 1987, when the school grounds

         16  enhancement section was passed by the State

         17  Legislature, my office has charged the section in

         18  about 15 percent of the cases we indicted.  We have

         19  found that charging the school grounds section does

         20  have an actual impact on plea bargaining and

         21  sentencing.

         22                 For instance, 73 percent of the

         23  defendants charged with 220.44 are sentenced to

         24  state prison, as compared to 59 percent of

         25  defendants facing charging of selling narcotics with

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  no school grounds enhancement. I would like to point

          3  out that selling narcotics is a Class B felony. It

          4  is not an A1 felony.

          5                 From the prospective of 15 years

          6  dealing with this section, I can tell you it does

          7  enhance penalties for those dealing drugs in and

          8  around our schools.

          9                 Your proposal specifically refers to

         10  playgrounds and I would like to point out to you

         11  that I could not find a legal definition of

         12   "playground" in the New York State Statues.

         13                 We searched the New York State Penal

         14  Law, Criminal Procedure Law, Administrative Codes

         15  and checked with the City's Department of Parks and

         16  Recreation and found no specific legal definition of

         17  this term.  Probably, the most appropriate legal

         18  definition of playground that we found came from a

         19  California Statue and I have it incorporated in my

         20  testimony and it reads as follows.

         21                 `Playground' means an improved

         22  outdoor area designed, equipped and set aside for

         23  children's play that is not intended for use as an

         24  athletic playing field or athletic court, and

         25  includes in that area such facilities as play
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          2  equipment, surfacing, fencing, signs, internal

          3  pathways, internal land forms, vegetation and

          4  related structures.

          5                 Of course the Council could

          6  incorporate "athletic facilities" within that

          7  definition, if they wanted to.

          8                 I however, think the term playground

          9  might be too narrow and I would suggest using the

         10  broader term`parks'.  Park is defined in the City

         11  Charter as follows:

         12                  "Park" signifies public parks,

         13  beaches, waters and land under water, pools,

         14  boardwalks, playgrounds, recreation centers and all

         15  other property, equipment, buildings and facilities

         16  now or hereafter under the jurisdiction, charge or

         17  control of the Department of Parks and Recreation.

         18                 For the purposes of enhancing

         19  criminal penalties for drug dealing, "parks"

         20  probably requires a more specific definition and I

         21  have incorporated one, which was introduced as part

         22  of Legislation before the State Legislature this

         23  year.

         24                 It includes building structure,

         25  athletic playing field, playground or land contained
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          2  within the park.  You can read through the

          3  definition and it's much broader than specifically

          4  the definition of a "playground" would be.  This

          5  definition also includes any area within 100 feet of

          6  a park.  And, so with that you would not have to

          7  also include as is in the school enhancement 1,000

          8  feet, you could narrow that curtilage to whatever

          9  you wanted to.

         10                 The reason I think it's important to

         11  have a broader definition is that it's not just

         12  playground, but open space, such as parks, which are

         13  set aside for our children to enjoy and for all of

         14  us to enjoy. And, what we do see time and time

         15  again, is public space set aside for this purpose,

         16  taken over by drug dealers.

         17                 I would like to add that your

         18  proposal, in addition to addressing the criminality

         19  of drug dealing in public areas, is also fiscal

         20  responsibility.  The Parks Department, which

         21  oversees 950 playgrounds spent nearly $260 million

         22  dollars in the past five years alone fixing and

         23  building new playgrounds.

         24                 In addition, the New York City

         25  Housing Authority, which oversees 345 housing
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          2  developments, also oversees numerous playgrounds as

          3  each housing development has at least two

          4  playgrounds in each compound.

          5                 I can tell you that most people,

          6  especially parents of young children in this City,

          7  view public parks and playgrounds as the urban

          8  version of their own backyard. For them to lose this

          9  space to drug dealers is a very significant and very

         10  personal deprivation.

         11                 Moreover, criminal activity in public

         12  spaces damages the quality of life of area residents

         13  and discourages entire neighborhoods from using

         14  these recreational sites.  Given the destruction and

         15  disregard for public property that generally

         16  accompanies drug dealing, it also represents a loss

         17  of millions of dollars in wasted efforts to provide

         18  safe and clean play environments for our children

         19  and for all New Yorkers.

         20                 Precisely because these public areas

         21  are already limited in New York City, our need to

         22  protect them is that much more compelling.  For

         23  those who use these precious spaces for drug

         24  dealing, they deserve more serious penalties.

         25                 I commend your efforts with this
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          2  proposal. I am happy to take any questions you might

          3  have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you

          5  Bridget.

          6                 I think you answered most of the

          7  questions I had already. As usual, you are very well

          8  prepared and my Counsel invites you to almost every

          9  hearing we have, since you have saved him a lot of

         10  work on all the definitions, that he was in the

         11  process of attempting to find.  Thank you for that

         12  also.

         13                 You mentioned some percentages

         14  regarding your use of the current statutes and how

         15  they assisted you in prosecuting these cases.  You

         16  said 73 percent of defendants are sentenced to state

         17  prison when they are involved with these enhanced

         18  laws as opposed to 59 percent facing charges without

         19  school grounds enhancement. Can you give us any

         20  actual numbers involved with those percentages?

         21                 MS. BRENNAN:  I can't recall the

         22  specific numbers. That's an average of our five year

         23  period, that actually we look back, ever since we

         24  had that statute in effect.  I have to tell you that

         25  our indictment numbers have varied wildly during
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          2  that period of time that covers some of the worst

          3  times in the City.

          4                 But, did we bring those specific

          5  numbers with us? I didn't bring the specific

          6  numbers, but, I will be happy to provide you with

          7  those.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We could use

          9  those.  Do you have just a general estimate of

         10  account.

         11                 MS. BRENNAN:  Well, let me give you a

         12  quick calculation in my head.  I would say last year

         13  we probably had at least 500 indictments charging

         14  that crime.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  The enhanced

         16  crime?

         17                 MS. BRENNAN:  Yes, the enhanced

         18  crime.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And 500 out of

         20  how many?

         21                 MS. BRENNAN:  Out of 3,500 or so.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  You testify to

         23  this but, obviously this has been an effective tool

         24  for you in prosecuting drug dealers who sell to

         25  children.
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          2                 MS. BRENNAN:  Yes.  When we charge

          3  this crime it's generally, we don't generally

          4  intercept the drug transaction as it is going down.

          5  Generally, what happens in these instances is there

          6  is an undercover buy or there is an observation of a

          7  sale.  I can't tell you that specifically that we

          8  have actually intercepted drug dealers selling to

          9  kids. I can't tell you how many times it has

         10  actually happened.

         11                 But, of course when dealers are set

         12  up close by a school, that certainly enhances the

         13  possibilities that will happen. And, I think

         14  moreover it makes for a terrible environment in and

         15  around the school.  You have crack vials right on

         16  the playground, syringes, and an atmosphere that

         17  kind of anything goes.

         18                 It creates a very unsafe feeling

         19  atmosphere for children. And, that is something we

         20  certainly want to prevent.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

         22                 I would like to introduce some more

         23  Council Members that have shown up.  To my far left

         24  Council Member Phil Reed. To my far right, one of

         25  our new Council Members Sarah Gonzalez.  Thank you
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          2  for coming today.  I think it is the first time we

          3  have had the pleasure of having you at one of our

          4  hearings. And, Council Member the beautiful Helen

          5  Forester.

          6                 I am going to move to questions from

          7  some of our other Council Members.  Council Member

          8  Reed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you

         10  Peter.

         11                 I think this is an interesting topic

         12  and I am glad I am here listening to your testimony

         13  this morning.  Ms. Brennan really woke me up because

         14  the particular case you state in here is in my

         15  District.  So, and I have 40 percent of my

         16  constituents living in public housing.  So, it

         17  certainly is compelling.

         18                 I guess it seems to me that, where I

         19  was reluctant to sign onto this Bill to begin with,

         20  was just that I think the criminal activity is

         21  important but it seemed to me when you were talking

         22  about the drug sales of a B Felony as opposed to an

         23  A1 felony, is that what you were saying?

         24                 MS. BRENNAN:  That is the sale of any

         25  narcotic drug, narcotic drug being defined as
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          2  cocaine or heroin, basically is a B felony.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Ah hum.

          4                 MS. BRENNAN:  To get into the level

          5  of A1 or A2, your talking about more significant

          6  quantities. An A1, the sale of two ounces or more of

          7  cocaine or heroin is an A1 felony.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Ah hum.

          9                 MS. BRENNAN:  We don't have a school

         10  ground enhancement obviously for that crime, given

         11  the penalty, there is really no need for one.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Ah hum. Well,

         13  there obviously has been a lot of public discussion

         14  about the unfairness of some of these laws and so

         15  that's really what is concerning me, as well as if

         16  we are trying to crack down on this why don't we

         17  just ask the State Legislature to reevaluate the

         18  whole status of these drug laws.

         19                 While I think it is arbitrary in

         20  nature and sometimes things are best that way to say

         21  it's even more to sell these where there are kids.

         22  It just seems to me we are trying to get at

         23  something in an around about fashion, as opposed to

         24  reexamining what we should be doing.

         25                 If society has a real problem with
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          2  this behavior then why is it more egregious if it's

          3  around a playground?  Now, obviously I understand

          4  that we all in the Council take great pride in

          5  fixing playgrounds.  That also helps in alleviating

          6  the drug element because you give it something so

          7  attractive that the community will come out and it

          8  throws a counter balance to it.

          9                 I am just not sure -- I don't want to

         10  walk away having passed this Bill and patting myself

         11  and my colleagues on the back saying, look what we

         12  have done, now we have now included parks and

         13  playgrounds.  At some point, in 1,000 feet from

         14  there, around there, well in my district we have

         15  basically covered all of East Harlem.  I could say

         16  that we now just cleared out East Harlem or

         17  increased the penalty.  As opposed to just really

         18  taking a look at it going to the State Legislature,

         19  asking them to reevaluate this and putting some real

         20  weight behind what we are talking about.

         21  Do you understand what I am talking about?

         22                 MS. BRENNAN:  I understand what your

         23  point is and I think I would respond to it this way.

         24    When we approach drug dealing here in the City,

         25  it's not simply the drug dealing that's creating the
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          2  problems, it's everything that is going along with

          3  it. That's why I used the example of the contract

          4  hit.  It's the violence that is generally associated

          5  with drug dealing and particularly in open areas.

          6  That's where you tend to have people fighting over

          7  turf.

          8                 That turf is a public area dedicated

          9  to and designated for the use of children.  And, I

         10  can tell you as a mother of small kids, I would

         11  never send my kids anywhere near a place that I

         12  thought drug dealing was going on. I am sure the

         13  residents in your District feel exactly the same

         14  way.

         15                 So then what is happening?  Those

         16  spaces are literally being taken over by the people

         17  it was not intended for. And people who have kids,

         18  have to keep their kids up in their apartments, in

         19  the small spaces.  The reason they created these

         20  open spaces is just there is plain old not enough

         21  space in the apartments for kids.

         22                 I mean, I view the parks in this City

         23  as my background and I am sure I am not alone in

         24  that.  It becomes a real issue of what areas are you

         25  going to provide, what areas are you going to
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          2  protect for your kids.  It's not nearly that the

          3  dealers will then sell to kids. It's that no

          4  resident in this City wants their kids exposed to

          5  this sort of thing and with the public spaces you

          6  definitely, we see it time and time again, and I am

          7  sure you hear the complaints yourself.  Those public

          8  spaces are being taken over.

          9                 The point that you are making I think

         10  is different. I think in my recollection of previous

         11  testimony, a number of Council Members have taken

         12  issue with the A1 drug laws, which impose a 15 to

         13  life minimum penalty for the sale of certain amounts

         14  of drugs, 2 ounces or more.

         15                 Well, that is really a very different

         16  issue and perhaps -- I testified before the Council

         17  on that issue. As I said then and I'll say it again.

         18    Certainly there is room for change in that Section

         19  of the Law.  But, that Section of the Law affects

         20  very few people.

         21                 Last year in the entire State I think

         22  21 or 22 people went to state prison on that charge,

         23  on the A1 penalty charge.  So, I think this

         24  addresses a very different issue.  The penalties are

         25  different. I think the concerns of the Council may
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          2  well be different when you are talking about a B

          3  level felony than when you are talking about an A1

          4  felony.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Just a last

          6  question. Mr. Chair, I don't think I'm mixing apples

          7  and oranges, we are working in the same direction

          8  and I'm well aware of that.

          9                 But, the prosecution that you talked

         10  about, you prosecuted those people for murder. You

         11  didn't prosecute those people for a drug offense.

         12  Is that correct?

         13                 MS. BRENNAN:  My office did not

         14  prosecute those people.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  The prosecution

         16  was for murder?

         17                 MS. BRENNAN:  Yes, it was for murder.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  And you were

         19  trying to establish that but, even in your

         20  testimony, and I am trying not to offer this as a

         21  criticism, because you know this kind of change is

         22  better than no change, and as I said, I had better

         23  go back to my office today and look at the map of

         24  East Harlem because that literally may just cover my

         25  whole territory there.
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          2                 But, in your testimony I didn't hear

          3  that this law would act as a deterrent.  You said

          4  that it came into play in plea bargaining because it

          5  enhanced the amount of time somebody would spend in

          6  jail so they plea bargain so and so.

          7                 But, you didn't say to me or to this

          8  Committee, that there was any evidence that because

          9  there is longer sentences. It was a deterrent to the

         10  behavior and that is my concern.

         11                 MS. BRENNAN:  Well, of course it's

         12  always difficult to determine what is a deterrent to

         13  the behavior.  All I can tell you is that the

         14  penalties have been enhanced.  The good news in this

         15  City and certainly we can't relate it strictly to

         16  the school ground's laws, that the drug activity in

         17  the City during the last 15 years has decreased. In

         18  the public areas it certainly has decreased and

         19  that's the good news for the City.

         20                 I think we are all scratching our

         21  heads in trying to figure out exactly why that

         22  happened because we want to replicate it and we want

         23  to make sure it continues.  But, as to being able to

         24  figure out exactly what deters this kind of criminal

         25  behavior, it is very, very difficult to do.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Council Member

          5  Reed I think you brought up a very good point.  I

          6  actually have been discussing with Counsel and

          7  Council Member Katz the fine line between changing a

          8  law as it relates to every area and just considering

          9  it more egregious in a certain location.

         10                 In fact at the next Council Meeting I

         11  am going to introduce legislation, which we

         12  discussed at our last hearing, or Resolution, which

         13  would increase the penalty for patronizing a

         14  prostitute under the age of 17.  Again, that's for

         15  all areas, as opposed to near a school or on a

         16  playground.

         17                 So, yes it is a very important

         18  distinction and we did actually decide that we

         19  believe it is much more egregious to be targeting

         20  children and that is why these certain locations

         21  would necessitate a higher penalty.  That was the

         22  thinking behind that.

         23                 But, it is something that we wrestled

         24  with and is an interesting question as to why

         25  certain areas and not for the entire State, or
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          2  entire areas should penalties be raised and perhaps

          3  that one day the entire City of New York should be a

          4  drug- free zone.

          5                 At this point we are arguing for

          6  playgrounds and perhaps parks and that is one of the

          7  things we are discussing here today whether to

          8  extend the resolution to include parks and other

          9  areas.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Can I just ask

         11  the Chair one question?   You said because they are

         12  targeting children.  Do we think that the sale of

         13  the drugs in the playground is to the children or

         14  are they just commandeering that ground for their

         15  enterprise?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I personally

         17  think both reasons are involved, but why don't we

         18  send that question to our expert, Ms. Brennan.

         19                 MS. BRENNAN:  We can certainly say

         20  that they are commandeering the areas and we have

         21  seen sales to children.  I wouldn't sit here and

         22  tell you that's why their setting up there. I think

         23  it's convenient.  I think it's a convenient location

         24  and I think once they are there, everybody else

         25  clears out.  I do think the availability of drugs
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          2  makes it more likely that it is going to get in the

          3  hands of kids and it suggests a certain legitimacy

          4  to drug youth and drug dealings that I don't think

          5  we want to suggest to our kids.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

          7                 Council Member Davis?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you. Let

          9  me first of all compliment Councilman Joseph Addabbo

         10  for this Resolution which I signed on to. And thank

         11  you for coming in and of course thank you Peter

         12  Vallone for his leadership.

         13                 Because it seems clear that you have

         14  stated that the drugs are being sold around the

         15  housing developments, correct?  In the playgrounds,

         16  housing developments according to your testimony,

         17  and I like the way you liken the playgrounds to the

         18  community that lives within the housing authority,

         19  as that's their backyard.  I think you are correct.

         20                 Do you think that there is so much

         21  drug dealing there because there is a shortage of

         22  housing police available as far as NYPD broken down

         23  into the Transit Bureau, the Housing Bureau and the

         24  City, and I am determined not to say today, the

         25  first Public Safety Hearing, I am not going to say I
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          2  am a retired Police Officer, who worked as a Transit

          3  cop and also as a City cop and the 73 Precinct,

          4  which covered Brownsville houses, Tilben (phonetic)

          5  houses, Vandyke housing developments, there weren't

          6  enough cops assigned to the Housing Bureau, the

          7  housing police.

          8                 When they went out on patrol there

          9  wasn't enough and not to mention how the 950 parks,

         10  I think you said, the Parks Department that oversees

         11  950 playgrounds, the shortage -- we need more park

         12  police as well?  Do you think that would go a long

         13  way?

         14                 MS. BRENNAN: You are getting a little

         15  beyond my area of expertise.  Yes, in terms of you

         16  know whether there is a shortage of Housing Police

         17  Officers and I don't know whether the merger of the

         18  Department has affected that or not. What I can say

         19  is I have been a prosecutor for almost 20 years and

         20  I have been dealing with drug crime for 20 years.

         21                 The good news is it has improved in

         22  the City.  It's improved in some of the housing

         23  developments, certainly where we have focused

         24  investigations and really made a push to get the

         25  drug dealers out of there.  We have seen
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          2  improvement.

          3                 Visible police presence is, to use

          4  Councilman Reed's words, is always a deterrent,

          5  certainly to an open notorious crime like drug

          6  dealing in a public area.  If you have a heavier

          7  police presence you are going to deter that kind of

          8  activity. So, that's about the limits of my

          9  expertise in that area.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  You should be

         11  in politics, that was a great answer.

         12                 Last but not least, and mind you I

         13  signed this Resolution so I am a supporter of this.

         14  I signed this Resolution, I think it is good. I just

         15  want to ask you because of your expertise and this

         16  is outside the parks and I know this would raise

         17  some controversy.

         18                 How do you feel about the -- because

         19  they are peers, to be a shortage of police?  Now we

         20  are faced with budget crisis and there may be lay

         21  offs and this is just asking, you may not answer.

         22  What do you think about the National Guard being

         23  called in to assist in policing some of these areas?

         24                 MS. BRENNAN:  I would certainly want

         25  to study that before I would be prepared to respond
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          2  in any way.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  And last but

          4  not least, when you have had success and prosecuted

          5  individuals and you have seen success around these

          6  playgrounds and around the housing developments, was

          7  there concerted effort of not only law enforcement

          8  but with community based organizations involved in

          9  the effort?  Was there some type of linkage between

         10  you and community based organizations so that when

         11  you went in with the legal full arm of the law, you

         12  also went in with community based organizations

         13  assisting you?  I am just trying to -- if we could

         14  find a model that has been successful, if we can use

         15  that model across the City. Have you seen that in

         16  times past?

         17                 MS. BRENNAN:  Yes.  Our most

         18  successful efforts have been when we have been able

         19  to take a holistic approach, when we have worked

         20  with the Housing Authority for example, to fix up

         21  problems, lighting, whatever type of problems there

         22  might be which contribute to the drug dealing.

         23                 When we work with recreational

         24  program, when we try to take a holistic approach, we

         25  certainly have been most successful.  We're not
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          2  always able to do that.

          3                 Obviously we have to address acute

          4  problems right away and you know we do the best we

          5  can, but in an ideal world that's how we do all of

          6  our investigations.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Well again, I

          8  want to thank you and in addition to finding and

          9  putting the right type of legislation in place, I

         10  think this Committee and we as concerned citizens

         11  should also think of trying to strengthen the model

         12  and if we can come up with an ideal model, then

         13  perhaps we can be more successful.

         14                 Again, I thank you for all your

         15  efforts and continue the good work.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you

         17  Council Member.  Let me be clear, this is the first

         18  meeting, you will not mention you are a retired

         19  police officer.  I just want to make sure this does

         20  not get mentioned at all (laughter).

         21                 I would like to introduce Council

         22  Member Jennings, who has joined us.

         23                 For the benefit of all Council

         24  Members here, one of the things we will be

         25  discussing after this date, is whether to expand
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          2  this Resolution to include areas outside of

          3  playgrounds.  I would appreciate your input to

          4  either myself or Counsel Ted Becker here.

          5                 And, Ms. Brennan, you did touch upon

          6  this, but since it will be a topic of discussion,

          7  it's safe to assume you are in favor of expanding

          8  this Resolution to include areas outside of

          9  playgrounds.  How far should that definition go in

         10  your opinion?

         11                 MS. BRENNAN:  I think the definition

         12  that if we included in here of "Parks" would be a

         13  good one to follow. I guess my way of thinking, it's

         14  not simply playground areas, but open spaces, which

         15  we have set aside for recreational enjoyment by the

         16  people in this City that should receive enhanced

         17  protection.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Council Member

         19  Addabbo.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:: Thank you

         21  Mr. Chair.

         22                 Ms. Brennan, again thank you for your

         23  time and testimony today.

         24                 But, along those lines I appreciate

         25  the broader interpretation of adding the word
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          2   "parks" to the definition in the Resolution.

          3                 In your professional opinion, I

          4  believe also that we could possibly add this to

          5  recreational facilities in light of the recent drug

          6  activity, which made the news, drug dealing out of

          7  one of our recreational facilities, which is Parks

          8  property.

          9                 In your professional opinion, do you

         10  think we could add that language?

         11                 MS. BRENNAN:  Yes, absolutely.  I

         12  think it would be timely, given we know that just

         13  occurred.  I think the definition that we included

         14  in here would probably incorporate that kind of

         15  facility.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  When we say

         17   "open air," obviously they thought of playgrounds

         18  and play areas.  I don't know if anybody would think

         19  about a recreational facility which is enclosed,

         20  which includes our pools, of the sort those types of

         21  facilities.

         22                 Parks Department identifies certain

         23  areas as recreation facilities by name.  So I think

         24  just to be specific we could include the language of

         25  recreational facilities in the Resolution, it would
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          2  be more specific.

          3                 MS. BRENNAN:  Yes, the definition we

          4  included did not specifically say "recreational

          5  facility" and I think you could add that under, when

          6  it lists out the kinds of facilities that we are

          7  talking about.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  So, Ms.

          9  Brennan, it would be on page 7, public park means an

         10  in or on or within any building structure, athletic

         11  playing field, and there we should add "recreational

         12  facilities".

         13                 MS. BRENNAN:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: It would be a

         15  public recreational facility, again Parks property.

         16  As my colleague Phil Reed is saying, there are

         17  distinctions of other recreational facilities that

         18  may be private property.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, the

         20  definition continues to say within the real property

         21  boundary line of any land owned, leased or

         22  maintained by the State. Are there any private

         23  facilities that would meet that criteria?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: No, that's

         25  fine.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I was just

          3  thinking about Chelsea Piers. I didn't mean to

          4  interrupt Joseph because he was asking about his

          5  Legislation.  For instance, Chelsea Piers, which is

          6  a huge recreation center, but I believe that is on

          7  leased State property.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Are you saying

          9  Chelsea Piers is on public property?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The waterfront

         11  all along there is owned by the State.  It's Park

         12  property.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  But it's

         14  private.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Right, so they

         16  have a contract, a concession, whatever. So, not

         17  that I -- I'm sure Chelsea Piers would opt to be

         18  added, I just think we need to be careful about the

         19  distinction, if that's how we're broadening things.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's a good

         21  point. And Council Member Katz brings up some

         22  restaurants that are on public property, such as

         23  Cafe on the Green, that we would have to discuss.

         24                 Council Member Addabbo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Just to
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          2  finish off.  Again, the main focus of the reason why

          3  I proposed the Resolution, obviously to target, for

          4  instance, children in the parks, those younger

          5  residents that may be targeted directly for drug

          6  activity. But, also those who may be indirectly

          7  involved with other criminal activity, as Ms.

          8  Brennan brought out in her testimony, other criminal

          9  activity related to the actual drug activity. And, I

         10  think that's important to understand and also our

         11  parks.

         12                 The reason again parks, because I am

         13  Chairman of the Parks Committee. But also parks have

         14  become an identifiable area either because maybe

         15  during the winter months when there are no people

         16  there, it is easier to do a drug deal there again

         17  because it's an identifiable landmark spot where

         18  again, those involved can go or those where a place

         19  during the summer months where the people

         20  congregate.  And, there is that type of activity

         21  there and we want to eliminate that activity. So,

         22  that's why parks are an identifiable site for the

         23  reason for the Resolution and again in keeping in

         24  focus, we are trying to protect the children here,

         25  so the families can use the parks.
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          2                 Thank you Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.  I

          4  would like to introduce Council Member Monserrate,

          5  who coming from another hearing.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Are you

          7  going to include in the language here "parks"

          8  because here it says playgrounds, so is this going

          9  to be included in the language in this Legislation?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: As I mentioned

         11  before, we are going to consider including that

         12  language inside it. Well I personally favor it but I

         13  would like to get your opinion on it, not as we sit

         14  here now.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  I am just

         16  trying understanding for example why there is a

         17  definition of playground for example in a place like

         18  Central Park, where children play throughout the

         19  whole park, is that whole park considered an

         20  extension of a playground?  Under definition of the

         21  law do we have to actually say "park".

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  As Ms. Brennan

         23  testified there is no actual definition of

         24  playground, except for California apparently.  We

         25  can come up with our own definition of playground.
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          2  It will not include the entire park.  Under the

          3  present Resolution, as it stands, it may under the

          4  amended Resolution.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: It would

          6  only include places where there are swings and

          7  seesaws that stays the same for a playground?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Essentially

          9  correct. Yes.

         10  But, I am not saying that is how the Resolution we

         11  vote on will read.  We are going to discuss Ms.

         12  Brennan's opinions and recommendations and I am

         13  going to discuss that with anyone who can come up

         14  with a Resolution.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I am

         16  concerned with what, I think Council Member Davis

         17  brought up about including recreation areas.  If you

         18  are going to go that far, you may as well just go

         19  ahead and just name entire parks because whether you

         20  go to Cunningham Park in Queens Prospect Park in

         21  Brooklyn, there are so many areas where drug

         22  activity is pervasive, why not just blanket it in

         23  and include parks this way you just cover

         24  everything.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well, we will
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          2  take that opinion into consideration.  Thank you for

          3  your input.

          4                 Are there any other questions from

          5  any other Council Member before we allow Ms. Brennan

          6  to go back to her very important duties protecting

          7  the City against drug dealers?

          8                 Thank you very much Ms. Brennan.  As

          9  usual, you were very informative and helpful and

         10  have a Happy Holiday.

         11                 I believe that we are done, so thank

         12  you all. Again, this will be the last hearing for

         13  the Public Safety Committee this year, which is 10

         14  more days Melinda?  Thank you all for coming.

         15                 Meeting over.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 10:57 a.m.)
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